IN THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF FLOP	RIDA SID J. WHITE SEP 26 1984
				CLERK SUPREME COURT
				By <u>hor her</u>
WILLIAM HAROLD KELLEY	ζ, :			Circle Debres (De
Appellant,	:			1.5.1711
v.		Case	Number	61-851
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:			
Appellee.	:			
	: x			

On Direct Appeal From The Circuit Court Of The Tenth Judicial Circuit Of Florida In And For Highlands County

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. KUNSTLER RONALD L. KUBY Kunstler & Mason 13 Gay Street New York, N.Y. 10014 (212) 924-5661

JACK T. EDMUND Edmund, McDaniel & Holmes P.O. Box 226 Bartow, Florida 33830 (813) 533-0507

MARSHALL G. SLAUGHTER 245 South Central Avenue Bartow, Florida 33830

Attorneys for Appellant

Statement of Facts

A. The Relevant Trial Testimony

1. J.C. Murdock

J. C. Murdock, Highlands County Deputy Sheriff in 1966, had reported to the Maxcy house "around 10:00 or 10:15 p.m." on the night of the murder, often being alerted on his car radio by the dispatcher. (R. 477). He had found no signs of forcible entry, (R. 478), and he had lifted a number of fingerprints which had been sent to "what was then the Sheriff's Bureau in Tallahassee." (R. 479). He testified that there was "an awful lot of blood" on Maxcy's body, ibid, "Q: And it looked like there had been a struggle?" A: Yes, sir." (R. 494), "an awful lot of blood on the walls, (R. 493), "blood all around this carpet where the body was," ibid, "blood on the floor in the bedroom" (R. 494), and "in the hallway," ibid. Later, he had determined there were three stab wounds in the back and a bullet wound in the facc. (R. 48). A .38 caliber bullet had been found "three or four feet" from the body. Ibid.

He had taken a number of black and white photographs of the scene while another deputy, now deceased, had taken color ones. (R. 481). State No. 3 was a black and white

¹All references to the record on appeal will be designated as "R," followed by the appropriate pagination. For the purposes of clarity and brevity, the Appellant,

WILLIAM HAROLD KELLEY, will be referred to as "defendant." The Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as "the State."

print showing the sheet, which was not on the body but "in the hallway" (R. 494) it contained "knife holes. . . and blood." (R. 483). The sheet, as well as the bullet, were also sent to the Sheriff's Bureau. (R. 484). He had found no indication that any blood had been washed off in the house by the killer and no blood in Maxcy's car. (R. 496).

2. Dr. Heinrich Schmidt

Dr. Heinrich Schmidt had conducted the autopsy on Maxcy's body at Highlands General Hospital the morning after the murder. (R. 512). He found four stab wounds on the left back and a gunshot wound in the right lower eye." Ibid. The stab wounds were "deep" ones. (R. 514). In his opinion, any of the wounds would have caused death. (R. 515). He believed that the stab wounds "came first" because the gunshot wound would have "immediately completely paralyzed him." (R. 516). With the stab wounds alone, "he would have been able to struggle for a considerable period of time, at least minutes . . . He would be able to fight and move." Ibid. Bleeding would have continued after the stab wounds and would not have ceased until "the heart stops." (R. 517). "Q: The way you have described Mr. Maxcy, after being stabbed, the heart would not have automatically stopped? A: It would not. Q: And he would have continued to bleed? A: Yes, sir." (R. 518).

-2-

3. John J. Sweet

a. Direct Examination

John J. Sweet, 68 years old, testified that he had begun having an affair with Irene Von Maxcy, and that this was known to her husband. (R. 568-69). There had come a time when Irene told him that Maxcy intended to divorce her. (R. 570). She was afraid that a divorce would not only cut her out of her husband's will but also cause her to lose their child. (R. 571). She had shown Sweet "a will and trust fund she had" which amounted to \$2,300,000.00. (R. 572).²

As a result of Irene's urging (R. 579, 644), he had contacted a Walter Bennett, a man in Dorchester, Massachusetts, with whom he used to bet (R. 573), in order to arrange for Maxcy's murder. (R. 579). Bennett had given him a price of \$20,000 for the job. <u>Ibid</u>. The money was to be paid "5,000 front money. . . and the balance . . . after the job was completed." (R. 580). Sweet had paid the "front money" to Bennett. (R. 581).

He had then received a telephone call from one Andrew Von Etter who was staying at a Daytone Beach motel. (R. 582-83). The witness had then gone to Daytona Beach, talked to Von Etter in the motel's parking lot, and then returned

²C.W. Davis, the former vice-president and senior trust officer of the Citizens Bank of Orlando, the co-executor, along with Irene, of Maxcy's estate (R. 686), testified that the value of the gross estate was \$1,864,656.59, plus \$300,000 in life insurance. (R. 689).

to Sebring. (R. 583).³ Several days later, Von Etter had driven to Sebring and Sweet had met him at a shopping center and driven him to the Maxcy home. (R. 584-85). He had also given him a description of the victim and "the type car he drove." (R. 586).

The evening before the murder, he had received a call from Von Etter "from Daytona." <u>Ibid</u>. Von Etter had said that his "friend" was here and that the killing would occur "tomorrow." (R. 587). Sweet had then checked with Irene who was to make sure that the door was unlocked. <u>Ibid</u>. During the conversation with Von Etter, they had arranged to meet at the same Sebring shopping center where they had met earlier "between 4:30 and 5:00. . . [B]ecause Irene said Von usually came home from work approximately 5:00 o'clock in the evening." (R. 588).

Von Etter and his "friend" had arrived at the center in "a sports car, a convertible, I believe," (R. 588), at "maybe 4:00 or 4:30. . ." (R. 587).⁴ A "big fellow" had come over to his car and said, "I'm Bill Kelley. I'm here to kill Von Maxcy." (R. 589).⁵ The latter had asked Sweet

⁵The witness identified defendant as the man who had (Footnote Continued)

-4-

³On cross-examination, he maintained that he didn't meet Von Etter until February of 1982. (R. 637-38). According to his widow, Von Etter had died on February 1, 1967. (R. 722).

⁴Later, he said "Between 4:30 and 5:00, I believe." (R. 589).

to drive him and Von Etter to Maxcy's house and they had done so in the murderer's car because the witness was afraid his would be too easily recognizable. (R. 589).

"Kelley," who was carrying a satchel, and Von Etter, had gotten into the back seat of their car and "bent down as close as they could to the floor." (R. 591). They had then driven to the Maxcy home. En route, Sweet, who noticed one of the Carlton neighbors "coming toward me," donned a hat and tilted his sun visor down. (R. 591-92). Arriving at Maxcy's, he "pulled in under the carport," and let his passengers out. (R. 592). "Kelley," who was wearing "a glove in one hand" (R. 593), had then opened his satchel and exhibited its contents of "two or three knives and two or three revolvers" to Sweet. (R. 592-93). After the assassins had entered the house, the witness drove back to the shopping center, turned down the vehicle's Massachusetts license plates, which had been "tilted up," and "left their car with the keys in it. . . " (R. 592). He had then driven around Sebring until he saw Maxcy's car parked there, when he had gone to the Elks Club. (R. 594).

He has paid Bennett and Von Etter the remaining \$15,000 at a Howard Johnson's restaurant in Boston "two or three

(Footnote Continued)

approached him, but stated that he was "forty or fifty pounds" lighter than the man in the parking lot whom he described as "six foot five and . . . two eighty or two ninety." (R. 590).

weeks later. . " (R. 596)⁶ and he had kept \$5,000 as an advance on her promise to pay him \$25,000 a year "to handle her estates. . " (R. 598).⁷ Earlier, she had repaid him the \$5,000 he had advanced to Bennett. Ibid.

He admitted that, at his two trials for Maxcy's murder, he had lied "many times," and denied his involvement in the crime. (R. 600-01). After his first trial had ended in a hung jury, he had been tried and convicted (R. 599-600), but his conviction had been reversed and he was never tried again. (R. 600). After remaining in Florida for "some two or three years," (R. 602), he had "returned to Massachusetts." <u>Ibid</u>. He had then learned of the address of "Kelley's" wife or girlfriend from Walter Bennett's wife. (R. 603). He had left his telephone with a woman at that address and "Kelley" had then contacted him. The latter had told him all of the details of the Maxcy murder and that he had received \$5,000 for his share. (R. 604-05).

⁶Although he testified he went to Boston alone to deliver the \$15,000 to Walter Bennett and that only the latter and Von Etter were present (R. 596), he had testified at defendant's first trial that Irene had accompanied him on that occasion because "she wanted to see Boston. . . that's when I paid off this balance to Walter Bennett." (R. 660).

^{&#}x27;On November 7, 1966, Irene had received a \$25,000 check from her insurance trust (State's Exhibit 22, R. 698) and had, three days later, endorsed and cashed it at the First National Bank of Sebring. <u>Ibid</u>. She had received the proceeds in hundred dollar bills, the serial numbers of which were recorded by the bank. (R. 699). Testimony of Alfred Roepstorff, then vice-president of the said bank. (R. 698).

Recently, he had contacted his son-in-law, a police officer, and "told him that I just had to talk with somebody. . . ." (R. 605). His son-in-law had introduced him to a state trooper to whom he "told . . . everything, just as I am telling it now." (R. 606). He had found out the "next day or two days later" that he had been given immunity for hijacking and loansharking. (R. 606). He had told them about "the Maxcy case." (R. 607). He believed that his lawyer had worked out "an immunity agreement in Florida." (R. 608).

b. Cross-Examination

Upon cross-examination, Mr. Sweet conceded that he had received immunity for Maxcy's murder (R. 614), as well as his perjury at both of the Florida trials. (R. 615). In Massachusetts, he had been granted freedom from prosecution for breaking and entering, (<u>Ibid</u>), prostitution (R. 618), narcotics violations (R. 625-26), larceny (R. 626), arson (R. 627), bribery of a police officer (R. 628), bookmaking (<u>Ibid</u>.), giving false statements to police officers (R. 629), and ownership of ten-dollar counterfeit plates (R. 632). In addition, he admitted to a number of other crimes, including adultery, having lied to the police (R. 638-39), and wagering on sports (R. 642). For a time, he was in the Federal Witness Program and living in an apartment with one of his prostitutes. (R. 633, 652). Moreover, he had sued Irene for \$250,000 "and then called it off." (R. 654).

-7-

He did not know anyone by the name of Abe Namia, even when informed that the latter had been one of his attorney's private investigators in 1966. (R. 671). He had never read any of Namia's reports (R. 672), and, when asked whether he had confessed to the private investigator "that [he] had hired two people to come down to Florida and kill Von Maxcy," replied, "<u>No way</u>." (<u>Ibid.</u>) (emphasis added). The pertinent testimony was as follows:

> Q: Back in 1967 before your trial in Boston, Massachusetts, did you confess to a private investigator by the name of Abe Namia that you had hired two people to come down to Florida and kill Von Maxcy?

A: No way.

Q: Did you confess to a private investigator named Abe Namia in October, 1967--and it would be on or about the 3rd, 4th, 5th and 6th of October, 1967, a year after the killing--that you hired someone at Mrs. Maxcy's request to come down to Florida and kill Von Maxcy?

A: I don't recall that at all.

Q: You never made any such statements to a private detective, did you?

A: Not to my knowledge that I can remember.

Q: You didn't make any confessions before your trials, did you?

A: Make any confessions?

Q: You didn't confess to your lawyers that you had hired anybody to come and kill Von Maxcy, did you?

A: No, sir.

Q: You didn't confess to anybody that worked for your lawyers that you had hired somebody to coime and kill Von Maxcy, did you?

A: No, sir.

(R. 672-73).

Q: When your lawyers took you to trial in 1967 and '68 they thought you were telling the truth when you were on the witness stand, didn't they?

A: I believe so, yes.

Q: And you never admitted to a living soul that you hired somebody to come down and kill Von Maxcy, did you?

A: Not to my recollection.

Q: The first time you told anybody that was when you talked to the police in Massachusetts in 1981?

A: That's correct.

Q: 1981?

A: I don't know.

Q:. Well, sir, I am not trying to trap you on anything like that. February 4, 1981, right?

A: Yes.

(R. 672-73).

4. Annette Abrams

Annette Abrams, Von Etter's widow, testified that she had accompanied her husband and son to Florida in late September or early October of 1966. (R. 723). They had stayed at "the Daytona Inn," and, one morning, she had seen Andrew talking to a bald man on the beach. (R. 725). Andrew had then flown back to Massachusetts for a court date "on Wednesday of that week." (R. 727).

He had returned "the following Sunday night," (<u>Ibid.</u>), having driven from Massachusetts with some friends, "Bill Kelley and Jennie Adams"⁸ (<u>Ibid</u>.), people she had never met before or even heard their names. (R. 728). On Monday, "Kelley" and her husband "had taken off in the morning to go somewhere. . . about 9:00." (R. 730, 735). They had returned "after dark." (<u>Ibid</u>.). Upon his return, she had not noticed anything that made her think he had changed his clothes and saw no blood on him or his clothes. (R. 735).

5. Abe Namia

Private investigator Abe Namia, the last witness for the State,⁹ had formerly been employed by the Hillsborough State Attorney's Office and, before that, by the Hillsborough Sheriff's Office. (R. 766). He had also been a deputy sheriff in Indiana. (R. 773). He had met Sweet before his first trial when he had been employed by his lawyer, James M. McEwan, as an investigator. (R. 767). At McEwan's request, he had accompanied Sweet to Boston "[To see witnesses, just get several background information and determine what was going on in the community at that time."

⁸On cross, she stated that she had a fear of flying (R. 740), and that, during Sweet's 1968 trial, her husband had returned to Daytona "so I wouldn't have to fly back." (R. 743).

 $^{^{9}}$ The State also relied on a number of stipulations regarding the identity of the deceased (R. 703), various registrations at Daytona Beach motels during September and early October of 1966 (R. 703-705), the renting by Sweet of a Hertz car (R. 706), records of telephone calls to and from Sweet (R. 706-07), the receipt by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement of a bullet and a sheet on October 6, 1966 (R. 707), and the results of laboratory tests thereon. (R. 707-08).

(R. 768). He claimed that Sweet had shown him "a residence that was supposed to be the home of Mr. Kelley" (R. 768), and "Mrs. Von Etter's residence. . . " (R. 769).

He testified that during this trip, Sweet had told him the "three phases" of the Maxcy murder. (<u>Ibid.</u>) These "phases" included (a) Sweet relaying Irene's need for someone to do "some work in Florida" (R. 770) to Wimpy Bennett;¹⁰ (b) the sending of two unidentified young men who flew to Sarasota and then returned to Boston (R. 770); (c) the arrival of another man who was taken by Sweet to Maxcy's car which was parked in the shopping center and with a tire and helping Maxcy to fix it "so he could readily identify the man" (R. 771), and then returned north without committing the crime; (d) Andrew Von Etter arrives, confers with Sweet, and then returns to Boston (R. 771) and (e) Von Etter and Kelley commit the murder (R. 772).

He insisted that he had told Mr. McEwan what Sweet had related to him during the Boston trip (R. 774). Although he had written extensive notes about his activities on this trip, including "what John Sweet had told [him]" (R. 774), his paginated reports, located by defense counsel (R. 795-96), did not contain "a single word" to anything Sweet had allegedly told him during the trip (R. 806). Of the three volumes of reports, only one, with 84 pages, related

-11-

 $^{^{10}{\}rm Wimpy}$ was not Walter Bennett, but his brother. (R. 807).

to the Boston investigation (R. 801). It contained reports of interviews with prospective witnesses for the defense but not what Sweet purportedly had told him (R. 806).

He maintained that he had never followed the Sweet trial in the newspapers (R. 775), or on television (R. 776), even though it had been "extensively reported" (R. 775-76), and then and now, he "read the newspapers every day" (R. 780). "Q: And it is your testimony that you never read a word of what John Sweet said on the stand? A: During that first trial, no, sir, I never did." (R. 776). In addition, he had never attended any sessions of Sweet's trial and did not know that he had taken the stand "and denied anything like a conspiracy." (R. 775).¹¹

It had not been until October of 1983 that he had first told anyone in authority about Sweet's confession (R. 777). He had called up a "good friend" of his, one Sam Jones, a Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) officer "during the summer of 1983,"¹² (<u>Ibid</u>.), and told him he had information "to help strengthen the state's case." (R. 781-82). Before doing so, he had read an article about

¹²June 29, 1983, to be exact. (R. 782).

-12-

¹¹Although he now testified that he was "fully aware" when he was hired by Mr. McEwan "what the situation was facing Mr. Sweet" (R. 789), at defendant's first trial he had stated that he did not know what that situation was. (<u>Ibid</u>.) He attributed the contradiction to the court reporter's error (R. 790, 794), just as he said all "mistakes" in Mitchell's report were those of the interviewer. (R. 793).

defendant's arrest "in the Tampa paper," (R. 787), an article which, among other things, "told some of the details. . . of the past trials." (R. 788).

On October 19, 1983, he was interviewed by one Joseph Mitchell at the FDLE Tampa office. (R. 782-83). The four-page, single-spaced typewritten report of that interview was all culled from his memory. (R. 783-84). Although he denied knowing what Sweet had testified to at trial (R. 784), Mitchell's report indicated that some of the information Namia was furnishing "was testified to at trial." (Ibid.) The witness then claimed that he had heard of Sweet's testimony "in general conversation in the sixteen- year period after the trial" (Ibid.), but could not recall "a soul" who had told him about it. (R. 785).

Statement of the Case

On December 16, 1981, defendant was charged by a single-count indictment with murder in the first degree. (R. 1012). The indictment, by a Highlands County grand jury, charged defendant with violation of §782.04, Fla. Stats. Defendant was not arrested on this charge until June 16, 1983, in Tampa, Florida (R. 756). He apparently pleaded not guilty.

Motions were filed to dismiss the indictment on the ground that the lengthy pre-indictment delay denied defendant's rights to a fair trial, to a speedy trial, and to due process of law (R. 1034), and on the ground that the State's willful destruction of evidence deprived defendant

-13-

of his right to present a defense, to cross-examine witnesses, and to a fair trial. (R. 1174-1208). The motions were denied.

Defendant's first trial ended in a mistrial, with the jury unable to agree upon a verdict. (R. 1215).

Defendant's second trial began with jury selection on March 26, 1984 (R. 1227),¹³ and the State presented 16 witnesses on March 27th, March 28th,¹⁴ and March 29th, resting at noon on the latter date. (<u>Ibid</u>.) After the denial of the motion for acquittal (R. 1232, R. 812-813), defendant then rested. (R. 1227). Closing arguments occurred on the afternoon of March 29th (<u>Ibid</u>.), and the jury, after being charged on the morning of the next day (R. 909-921), began its deliberations at 9:25 a.m. (R. 1227).

During deliberations, the jury foreperson announced that the jury was "at an impasse." The court gave an Allen

 $[\]frac{13}{\text{Sua sponte}}$, the trial judge furnished the jurors with pads and pencils "for those of you who wish to take notes." (R. 412). Defendant's motion objecting to this procedure was denied. (R. 421-423).

¹⁴On this date, the State filed and served a motion <u>in</u> <u>limine</u> to prevent defense counsel from interrogating John J. Sweet, its witness-in-chief, as to immunity received by him in Massachusetts "on homicide and prostitution, when the defendant is prepared to rebut, with evidence, a negative answer from the witness." (R. 1226). During cross-examination, the court prohibited defense counsel from going into some details about crimes committed by Sweet, such as the ages of prostitutes "managed" by him. (R. 621-622. However, the court would not let the defense question the witness as to a police report that he had committed a murder in Massachusetts. (R. 630).

charge (R. 923-925). The jury then sent a note requesting that the judge inform them whether Sweet received immunity. (R. 925, 1230). The judge refused to answer the question. (R. 927-933, 936).

An hour later, the jury returned its verdict, finding the defendant guilty as charged. (R. 937-1231). The jury imposed the penalty of death by a vote of 8-3.

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