IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM HAROLD KELLEY,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. 65,134

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. WHILE
MAR 12 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Glerk

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KARLA J. STAKER
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In <u>Kozakoff v. State</u>, 323 So.2d 28 (Fla. 4 DCA 1975), during voir dire the judge told a prospective juror:

- " . . . We are in the decision-making business. We have to make decisions. Can you make a decision?
- . . See, my problem is when I get through with the trial and when the case gets cranked up there has to be a decision made down the line

somewhere. There are a lot of decisions to be made, but basically I want a verdict, I want people to go back there and have them make their minds up on something." (emphasis added)

The Fourth District reversed. It determined that these statements during voir dire constituted an improper verdict urging instruction. The court reasoned that by demanding that the jury reach a verdict, the judge prejudiced the defendant's right to a hung jury by communicating a false duty to decide.

Nelson v. State, 438 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 4 DCA 1983), relied on by Appellant, is distinguishable. There, unlike here, the trial judge's comments to the jury indicated that he would regard their failure to agree on a verdict as a reflection on their intelligence, common sense or integrity. He went so far as to tell the jury, "If you all cannot arrive at a verdict then something is wrong." Further, he implied a duty to decide by telling the jury, "We look to you for resolution of this case. It is that pure and simple."

Here, rather than demanding a verdict, the judge said, "I would ask that you retire at this time and consider whether you wish to consider the matter further." (R 925)

In sum, the language used in the instant case was not coercive.

Effect of Instruction on Jury

In determining whether a verdict urging instruction had a coercive effect, the reviewing court should examine the facts and circumstances of the particular case. <u>Jenkins v. United States</u>, 380 U.S. 445, 13 L.Ed.2d 957, 85 S.Ct. 1059 (1965); <u>United States v. Williams</u>, 447 F.2d 894, 900 (5th Cir. 1971). In <u>Webb v. United States</u>, 396 F.2d 727 (5th Cir. 1968), the court determined that an

Allen charge had no impact on the jury since an hour and a half after the charge the jury was still deadlocked.

Here, the verdict was not rendered shortly after the challenged charge. At some unspecified time after receiving the charge, the jury sent a written question to the judge. (R 925) The judge and counsel discussed at length the appropriate answer to the question. (R 925 - 935) The jury then returned to the courtroom, received the judge's response to the question and retired again. (R 935 - 936) Eventually, the jury returned its guilty verdict. (R 936, 1227, 1231) It is clear from this record that the jury was not impressed by the charge. Accordingly, any error was harmless.

Failure to Preserve

Generally, a defendant's failure to object to a verdict urging instruction constitutes a waiver for purposes of appeal. Tejeda
Bermudez v. State, 427 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 3 DCA 1983); Sayan v. State,

381 So.2d 363 (Fla. 4 DCA 1980); Armstrong v. State, 364 So.2d 1238

(Fla. 1 DCA 1977), cert. denied, 373 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1979); but see

Rodriguez v. State, No. 83-2066 (Fla. 3 DCA Jan. 15, 1985)[10 F.L.W.

199](a manifestly coercive deadlock charge is fundamental error).

As Appellant did not object to the trial judge's instruction, he failed to preserve this issue.

ISSUE $V(B)^4$

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

Appellant claims that one of his trial attorneys, Mr. Kuntsler, provided ineffective assistance by: (1) sending another attorney to a pretrial motions hearing; (2) failing to object to an <u>Allen</u> charge given at trial; and (3) failing to object to the trial judge's response to a question asked by the jury during deliberations.

Generally, ineffective assistance of trial counsel is not reviewable on direct appeal but is more properly asserted in a motion for post-conviction relief. Perri v. State, 441 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1983); State v. Barber, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974). This rule is applicable to capital cases. Gibson v. State, 351 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 1004, 98 S.Ct. 1660, 56 L.Ed.2d 93 (1978). This rule is necessary because the record on appeal is usually insufficient for purposes of evaluating counsel's performance. United States v. Lopez, 728 F.2d 1359 (11th Cir. 1984).

Here, the record is an insufficient basis upon which to make a ruling. Counsel's actions may have resulted from tactical considerations. Accordingly, this issue is not properly raised here.

Moreover, under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, __ U.S. __, 80

L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. __ (1984), to prevail on an ineffectiveness
claim the defendant must show that: (1) counsel's performance was
deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

⁴ Issue IV in Supplemental Brief of Appellant.

Appellant has not demonstrated that the alleged deficiencies of counsel affected the outcome or reliability of the trial. Therefore, assuming <u>arguendo</u> that the ineffectiveness claim is properly before this court, Appellant cannot prevail.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE WAS IM-PROPERLY APPLIED TO APPELLANT AND WHETHER THE STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE.

Α.

Whether the trial court improperly doubled the statutory aggravating circumstances murder for pecuniary gain and cold, calculated and premeditated.

Improper doubling occurs where the trial judge finds two aggravating circumstances based on the same evidence and the same aspect of the crime. Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208, 213 (Fla. 1984);

Provence v. State, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 969, 53 L.Ed.2d 1065, 97 S.Ct. 2929, (1977). Here, the trial judge found that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain based on evidence that Appellant was paid to commit the murder. (R 1240) He found that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated based on evidence that the murder was dispassionately conceived and planned. (R 1241) Since he used different aspects of the murder for hire and different evidence to find the two aggravating factors there was no improper doubling.

Similar reasoning was used in <u>Squires v. State</u>. There this court held that a trial judge may use separate aspects of the method of killing to support two aggravating factors. Squires shot the victim in the shoulder with a shotgun at close range. As the victim lay screaming in pain, Squires completed the task by firing five shots into the victim's head with a revolver. This court found that the circumstance heinous, atrocious or cruel was supported by the evidence showing that the murder was committed so as to cause the

victim unnecessary and prolonged pain. The court found that the circumstance cold, calculated and premeditated was supported by the evidence showing that Squires dispassionately fired the lethal shots at close range.

Similar reasoning was also used in Agan v. State, 445 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1983). Agan committed first-degree murder while in prison for a previous first-degree murder. The trial judge found the aggravating circumstances prior conviction of a violent or capital felony and murder committed while under sentence of imprisonment. This court upheld both findings. It reasoned that the two aggravating circumstances were not based on the same aspect of the crime or the defendant's character.

В.

Whether the trial court improperly allowed the jury to consider the State's claim that the murder occurred during the commission of a felony.

Appellant cannot prevail on this issue for three reasons. First, defense counsel did not object when the prosecutor argued to the advisory jury that the felony murder aggravating circumstance applied. (R 966) Appellant cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Riley v. State, 413 So.2d 1173, 1174 (Fla. 1982).

Second, the prosecutor had a tenable basis for arguing that the murder occurred during a burglary. Burglary is now defined as the nonconsensual entering or remaining in a structure or conveyance of another with intent to commit an offense therein. Section 810.02, Florida Statutes (1983). Consent to entry is an affirmative defense to burglary. State v. Hicks, 421 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1982). In dicta

in McEver v. State, 352 So.2d 1213 (Fla. 2 DCA 1977), cert. denied, 364 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1978), the District Court of Appeal for the Second District expressed doubt that one could commit burglary by entering the marital domicile with the permission of one spouse for the purpose of committing a felony against the other. However, in K.P.M. v. State, 446 So.2d 723 (Fla. 2 DCA 1984), the Second District receded from its previous position. There, the court held that one could commit burglary by entering a family's residence with the permission of a juvenile occupant of the residence for the purpose of stealing property therein. The court reasoned that the juvenile had no legal or moral right to consent to entry into his family's home for the purpose of stealing property which did not belong to the juvenile. Further, the court reasoned that the defendant could not reasonably, and in good faith, believe that the juvenile had authority to permit him to enter the residence for the purpose of stealing the valuables of others. Id., at 724.

Here, the evidence showed that Irene Maxcy, through Sweet, gave Appellant permission to enter the Maxcy home for the purpose of killing Von Maxcy. (R 587) Under the reasoning of K.P.M. v. State, her consent was inoperative. Therefore, the prosecutor properly argued that the murder occurred during a burglary.

Third, Appellant cannot prevail on this issue because any error was harmless. At defense counsel's election (R 942 - 943, 946 - 947, 951), the jury was instructed on all statutory aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R 978 - 981) Thus, the aggravating circumstance felony murder would have been before the jury for consideration whether the prosecutor argued for its application or not.

Further, Appellant was not prejudiced since the trial judge did not find the felony murder circumstance in aggravation. See Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1982).

C.

Whether the trial court erred by refusing to consider nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.

Appellant contends that the judge failed to consider as a non-statutory mitigating circumstance the difficulties posed to the defense as a result of the remoteness of the crime. However, at the sentencing hearing and in his sentencing order the judge specifically stated that he rejected the remoteness of the crime as a mitigating circumstance. (R 1005, 1244) He also stated that he rejected the destruction of evidence as a mitigating circumstance. (R 1006, 1244 - 1245) Mere disagreement with the force and effect given mitigation evidence is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence. Porter v. State, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983); Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1982).

D.

Whether the trial court erred in not finding as a statutory mitigating circumstance that Appellant was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by another and that his participation was relatively minor.

The trial judge properly rejected the mitigating circumstance set forth in Section 921.141(6)(d), Florida Statutes (1983), since Sweet testified that Appellant was the actual killer. Sweet stated that Von Etter drove to Sebring from Daytona to locate the Maxcy residence. (R 584 - 585) However, instead of committing the murder

himself, Von Etter returned to Daytona, saying that he was waiting for someone to arrive. (R 585 - 587) The evening before the murder, Von Etter called Sweet. (R 586) He said his "partner" or "friend" had arrived and that the murder would take place the next day. (R 586 - 587) The following day, Appellant and Von Etter rendezvoused with Sweet in Sebring. (R 588 - 589) Appellant was carrying a satchel, and he told Sweet he was there to kill Von Maxcy. (R 589) When Sweet let Appellant and Von Etter out at the Maxcy residence, Appellant opened his satchel, displaying several knives and revolvers and a glove. (R 592 - 593) Appellant was wearing another glove. (R 593) Years later Sweet talked to Appellant about Von Maxcy's murder. (R 602 - 604) Appellant said, "Boy, [Maxcy] was a powerful guy. I stabbed him three or four times and he kept coming after us, so I had to shoot him in the head." (R 604)

In addition to Sweet's testimony, the State presented circumstantial evidence which showed that Von Etter considered Appellant a necessary participant in the killing. Annette Abrams, Von Etter's widow, testified that in late September or early October of 1966 she, her son, Von Etter and a Mr. Campbell stayed at the Daytona Inn. (R 723 - 724) One afternoon Von Etter and Mr. Campbell left for several hours. (R 726) Von Etter and Mr. Campbell flew back to Massachusetts on a Tuesday or Wednesday. (R 727) The following Sunday night Von Etter returned to Daytona with Appellant and Jennie Adams, Appellant's girlfriend. (R 728) Von Etter and Appellant were gone all day Monday. (R 729) They all left for Boston the next day. (R 731 - 732)

Further, motel registrations from the Daytona Inn showed that the Von Etters were registered at the Daytona Inn from September 23 to October 4, 1966. (R 705) However, a Mr. and Mrs. William Kelley registered at the motel the day before the October 3, 1966, murder and left the day after the murder. (R 705)

Ε.

Whether the trial court improperly allowed the jury to consider the State's claim that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

Appellant cannot prevail on this issue for three reasons. First, defense counsel did not object when the prosecutor argued to the advisory jury that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R 967) Appellant cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Riley v. State, 413 So.2d 1173, 1174 (Fla. 1982).

Second, the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The State's evidence showed that Appellant and Von Etter lay in wait for Maxcy in Maxcy's own home. (R 587, 592 - 594) After Maxcy entered, a sheet was thrown over him. (R 482 - 485, 494 - 495, 707 - 708) He was stabbed in the back four times while moving. (R 512 - 514, 516) The stab wounds were deep and would have been painful. (R 514, 516) However, he would have been able to struggle for a considerable period of time, at least minutes. (R 516) Blood in the hall outside of the bedroom indicated that a violent struggle occurred there. (R 493 - 494) There were also skin abrasions on Maxcy's body. (R 518 - 519) Maxcy was eventually shot through the base of his skull. (R 514 - 515) Although his body was found in the bedroom, the sheet was found in the hall. (R 479, 485) The

sheet contained blood and knife holes but no gunshot hole. (R 482 - 483, 707 - 708) Apparently Maxcy managed to get out from under the sheet before he was shot.

This court has held that many of these circumstances justify finding the aggravating circumstance heinous, atrocious or cruel. In Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1128, 74 L.Ed.2d 979, 103 S.Ct. 764 (1983), the defendant shot his ex-wife, killing her instantly. The court found that the defendant's lying in wait for and stalking of his ex-wife, compounded by his previous harassment of her, justified finding the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor. In Proffitt v. State, 315 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1975), 428 U.S. 242, 49 L.Ed.2d 913, 96 S.Ct. 2960 (1960), and Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), this court held that stabbing a victim in the victim's own home makes a murder especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. In Scott v. State, 411 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1982), heinous, atrocious or cruel was properly found where a violent struggle occurred between the victim and the killers as the victim moved from room to room in his own house. This court has recognized that evidence that the victim was blindfolded or otherwise rendered helpless will support a finding of heinous, atrocious or cruel. See Palmer v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 882, 70 L.Ed.2d 195, 102 S.Ct. 369 (1981); Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 937, 60 L.Ed.2d 666, 99 S.Ct. 2063 (1979). And, certainly, evidence that the victim was in pain before dying can make a killing especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. See Peek v. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 964, 68 L.Ed.2d 342,

101 S.Ct. 2036 (1981); McRae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1037, 70 L.Ed.2d 486, 102 S.Ct. 583 (1981).

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